
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. ________________                        

SHARON KERR, an individual, and
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado Non-profit Corporation,

Plaintiffs,

v.

THE HEATHER GARDENS ASSOCIATION, a Colorado Corporation, and
HEATHER GARDENS METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a Colorado Metropolitan District

Defendants.  
                                                                                                                                                            

COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                            

Plaintiffs Sharon Kerr and Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”), by and

through their attorneys, Carrie Ann Lucas and Kevin W. Williams of the CCDC Legal Program,

hereby bring this Complaint against The Heather Gardens Association and the Heather Gardens

Metropolitan District for violations of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. and the

Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.

Introduction

1. Heather Gardens was developed as a premier senior living community. 

According to Heather Gardens’ promotional materials:  Recognized as one of the 50 best

retirement communities in the country, Heather Gardens offers residents far more than simple

housing.  The community’s numerous recreational and social amenities are central to the

community’s attraction.  



2. Heather Gardens, however, denies deaf and hard of hearing residents meaningful

access to these recreational and social amenities because its management refuses to provide sign

language interpreters and other forms of effective communication for deaf and hard of hearing

residents. 

3. The Fair Housing Act was amended over 20 years ago to prohibit discrimination

on the basis of disability.  Housing providers and homeowners’ associations (“HOA’s”), such as

The Heather Gardens Association, are required to provide reasonable accommodations for

individuals with disabilities such as providing sign language interpreters during HOA meetings

and events sponsored and operated by the HOA. 

4. The Americans with Disabilities Act, enacted over 18 years ago, requires public

entities such as the Heather Gardens Metropolitan District to provide auxiliary aids and services,

such as sign language interpreters and other forms of effective communication, to ensure that

deaf and hard of hearing individuals have access to the programs and services of the District.  

5. As set forth in this Complaint, Defendants have refused to provide effective

communication to deaf and hard of hearing individuals, resulting in Plaintiff Sharon Kerr having

an unequal opportunity to participate in Defendants’ board meetings and social events.

Jurisdiction and Venue

6. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

7. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

Parties
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8. Plaintiff Sharon Kerr is and was at all times material hereto a resident of

Colorado.  Ms. Kerr is substantially limited in several major life activities, including, but not

limited to hearing.  Plaintiff Kerr is a member of Plaintiff CCDC.

9. Plaintiff CCDC is a Colorado non-profit corporation whose members are persons

with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.

10. Defendant The Heather Gardens Association (“HGA”) is a Colorado nonprofit

corporation with its principal place of business at 2888 South Heather Gardens Way, Aurora,

Colorado 80014.  Defendant is a home owners association (“HOA”) and manages public

accommodations, including a recreation/Community Center that are owned by Defendant

Heather Gardens Metropolitan District.  Monthly, HGA collects funds from Heather Gardens

homeowners to pay recreation fees to Defendant Heather Gardens Metropolitan District and bills

the District for maintenance of its property, including the recreation/Community Center. 

11. Defendant Heather Gardens Metropolitan District (“HGMD”) is a Colorado

Metropolitan District organized pursuant to Colo. Rev. Stat. § 32-1-103.  HGMD owns several

public accommodations, including a recreation/Community Center, a public golf course and a

restaurant.  The recreation/Community Center owned by HGMD is operated by HGA; however,

HGMD leases the center for use by other entities.  HGMD bills HGA monthly for HGMD’s

operating and capital reserve dollars and pays HGA for maintenance of its facilities.

General Allegations

12. Plaintiff Sharon Kerr purchased a condominium in and moved into the Heather

Gardens community in May, 2006.  
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13. Ms. Kerr has a severe to profound hearing loss that substantially limits her ability

to hear.  

14. Ms. Kerr can hear some speech using an assistive listening device,1 but is unable

to understand a substantial portion of what is being said without other auxiliary aides and

services.  Ms. Kerr needs an American Sign Language interpreter (“interpreter”) or a

Communication Access Realtime Translation reporter (“CART”) for effective communication

for all lectures, performances, meetings and group presentations sponsored by and/or in locations

owned and operated by Defendants.  Ms. Kerr also requires an interpreter for effective

communication during exercise classes taken at the recreation/Community Center owned and

operated by Defendants.

15. In or around March, 2007, Ms. Kerr requested that the HGA provide a sign

language interpreter for the April 10, 2007 board of directors meeting so that Ms. Kerr could

discuss issues related to her hearing disability with the board.   

16. The HGA refused to provide an interpreter for the board meeting and told Ms.

Kerr that the board would discuss the issue of providing her with an interpreter at this board

meeting.

17. Ms. Kerr secured a volunteer interpreter to interpret for the April 10, 2007

meeting.  At that meeting , the board of directors voted to not provide sign language interpreters

for the monthly HGA board of directors meetings.

1 “Assistive listening device” refers to the devices identified in Standards for
Accessible Design, 28 C.F.R., pt. 36, app. A, § A4.33.7.
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18. Ms. Kerr was deterred from attending meetings of the HGA board of directors

due to the HGA’s failure to provide an interpreter.

19. On or about March 25, 2008, Ms. Kerr, through undersigned attorney Carrie Ann

Lucas requested that HGA provide a sign language interpreter upon request for board meetings,

classes, lectures and other events.  

20. On information and belief, on or about April 3, 2008  HGA and Defendant

HGMD met in an executive session to formulate a response to Ms. Kerr’s requests for

accommodation.

21. On or about April 11, 2008, HGA responded through counsel and said HGA

would provide interpreters upon advanced request for board of director meetings, but required

the requesting resident to pay cancellation fees if the resident is subsequently unable to attend

the meeting.

22. In that response, HGA refused to provide interpreters for classes, lectures and

social events held at facilities owned and operated by Defendants, claiming an interpreter is not

necessary for Ms. Kerr’s use and enjoyment of her home, and that providing an interpreter would

create a large financial and administrative burden.

23. On or about November 3, 2008, Ms. Kerr wrote an email to Defendants

requesting interpreters for holiday concerts on December 5 and December 16, 2008, and

requesting CART reporter for a lecture on November 11, 2008.  The concerts and lecture were

held at the Heather Gardens Community Center owned by Defendant HGMD and operated by

Defendant HGA.  
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24. On or about November 10, 2008, Defendants’ general manager, Keith Schmaus,

denied Ms. Kerr’s request for CART for November 11, 2008 and instructed her to use the

assistive listening device instead. 

25. Ms. Kerr attended the November 11, 2008 lecture and used the assistive listening

device.  The assistive listening device functioned intermittently.  When it was functioning, Ms.

Kerr was only able to understand about three-fourths of what the presenter said, and she was

unable to understand any of the audience questions.  The assisted listening device  does not

provide effective communication for Ms. Kerr.   Ms. Kerr explained the assistive listening

device did not provide effective communication for her in writing to Defendants.

26. Defendants did not respond to Ms. Kerr’s request for interpreters for the

December 5, 2008 or December 16, 2008 concerts.

27. On or about November 26, 2008 and December 1, 2008, Ms. Kerr repeated her

requests for interpreters for these concerts.

28. On or about December 1, 2008, Defendants, through counsel, wrote to Ms. Kerr

and refused to provide interpreters for the concerts.  

29. Ms. Kerr requested an interpreter for a meeting with City of Aurora elected

officials on January 9, 2009.  The meeting held at the Heather Gardens Community Center

owned by Defendant HGMD and operated by Defendant HGA.  Ms. Kerr contacted both the

City of Aurora and Defendants to request an interpreter.  The City of Aurora instructed Ms. Kerr

to contact Defendants about an interpreter.  Ms. Kerr contacted general manager Keith Schmaus

to request an interpreter.  Mr. Schmaus refused to provide an interpreter.
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30. On or about January 28, 2009, Ms. Kerr requested sign language interpreters for

water exercise and weight strengthening classes she was taking.  The classes are held at the

Heather Gardens Community Center owned by Defendant HGMD and operated by Defendant

HGA.  Defendants did not respond to her request for accommodations.

31. On or about January 28, 2009, Ms. Kerr requested sign language interpreters for

the February HGA board meeting and the February HGMD board meeting.  Defendants did not

respond to Ms. Kerr’s request for accommodation, and she was unable to attend the meetings.

32. On information and belief, HGA has an annual budget of over $8,500,000, and in

2008, was projected to have a budget surplus of over $160,000.

33. On information and belief, HGMD has an annual budget of over $1,500,000, and

in 2008, had an operating budget surplus of over $135,000.

34. Ms. Kerr lives on a fixed income and is unable to assume the risk of paying

cancellation fees if she becomes ill or is otherwise unable to attend a meeting as planned.

35. Ms. Kerr seeks to be involved in the social activities, life and leadership of the

community in which she lives.  She seeks to volunteer on committees, but she is unable to do so

due to HGA’s refusal to provide an interpreter or CART.

36. In addition to attending monthly board meetings several times a year, Ms. Kerr

also seeks to attend meetings and events at the Heather Gardens Community Center owned by

Defendant HGMD and operated by Defendant HGA.  including, but not limited to:

a. annual building board meetings;

b. board of directors candidate forums;
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c. building safety and information meetings; and

d. quarterly birthday parties.

37. Ms. Kerr was unable to vote in the 2008 HGA board of directors election. 

Because HGA denied her effective communication at the candidate forum, she did not have

adequate information about the candidates.

38. HGA and the HGMD have refused to provide interpreters for classes, lectures and

social events at the Heather Gardens Community Center, owned by Defendant HGMD and

operated by Defendant HGMD.  

39. Ms. Kerr has attempted to attend meetings, events, classes and lectures at the

Community Center, owned by Defendant HGMD and operated by Defendant HGMD, without an

interpreter or CART, but she has been unable to receive and understand verbal information at the

events, classes and lectures.  

40. Ms. Kerr seeks to attend several events, classes and lectures offered each month

at facilities owned and operated by Defendants, including, but not limited to:

a. the “Active Minds” lectures each month;

b. health fairs;

c. travel series lectures;

d. mental health series lectures;

e. neighborhood watch meetings;

f. political candidate introduction and electoral issues meetings;

g. Spring Frolics;
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h. Holiday concerts;

i. entertainment programs; and

j. occasional lectures and seminars.

41. Ms. Kerr also seeks to participate in tours and trips offered by HGA and HGMD.

42. Ms. Kerr asked HGA and HGMD to provide a written script of announcements

and commentary on sightseeing trips, but HGA and HGMD have refused to do so.  

43. On information and belief, Defendants have engaged in acts of retaliation against

Ms. Kerr, including, without limitation, publicizing her requests for accommodations and her

attempts to enforce her rights in the Heather n’ Yon newsletter, a publication published by the

HGA.

44. Defendants’ actions caused Plaintiff to suffer economic loss, pain, suffering,

emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation.  Plaintiff has been and continues to be

harmed by the actions of Defendants.

45. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or

accommodations provided by HOAs and public entities, like those owned and operated by

Defendants. 

46. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and
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this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendants’ violations of the

laws cited herein.

47. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable, and

perceptible injury to CCDC.  

48. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to communicating with Defendants in an attempt to

secure non-discriminatory conditions at Heather Gardens events.

49. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to counseling members and others who have been

injured by Defendants’ discrimination.  

50. Defendants’ discrimination has been and continues to be a barrier to the full

participation of persons with disabilities and, therefore, frustrates CCDC’s ability to achieve full

inclusion for persons with disabilities.

51. Defendants’ actions deter persons with disabilities from attending events at

facilities owned and operated by Defendants.

52. Defendants’ discrimination has required and continues to require CCDC to make

a greater effort -- and to allocate significant resources -- to educate the public that such

discrimination is wrong and otherwise to counteract the adverse impact of such discrimination.  

This perceptibly impairs CCDC’s counseling, advocacy, educational, and training missions.

53. CCDC also has devoted and continues to devote resources -- including but not

limited to those devoted to the present lawsuit -- to identifying and counteracting the sources of
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discrimination in the community, including that of Defendants.

54. CCDC’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are

traceable to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and will be redressed

by the relief requested in it.

55. CCDC’s members have been injured and will continue to be injured by

Defendants’ discrimination. 

56. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendants, and the integration

of persons with disabilities into all aspects of community life are at the core of CCDC’s

organizational purpose.

57. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Fair Housing Act)

(Against Heather Gardens Association)

58. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

59. The Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq., requires fair housing and

prohibits discrimination in the provision of housing.

60. Defendant HGA is an entity subject to the requirements of the Fair Housing Act.

61. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B) makes it unlawful to refuse to make reasonable

accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be

necessary to afford a person with a disability equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.
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62. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(2) makes it unlawful to discriminate against any person in the

provision of services or facilities in connection with such dwelling, because of a handicap.

63. 42 U.S.C. § 3617 makes it unlawful to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere

with any person in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his having exercised or

enjoyed, or on account of his having aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise or

enjoyment of, any right granted or protected by 42 U.S.C. § 3604.

64. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of disability.

Defendant’s discriminatory conduct includes but is not limited to:

a. Refusing to provide effective communication for association board

meetings;

b. conditioning the provision of sign language interpreters for board

meetings upon agreement to pay for cancellations;

c. refusing to provide effective communication for classes, meetings

presentations, lectures, and other community events.

65. As such, Defendant discriminates and, in the absence of the injunction requested

herein, will continue in the future to discriminate against Plaintiff Kerr and CCDC members on

the basis of disability in the provision of housing in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C.

§3601 et. seq., and/or its implementing regulations.

66. Defendant has retaliated, coerced and intimidated Ms. Kerr in violation of § 3617

because she attempted to enforce her rights under the Fair Housing Act. 

67. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be injured by Defendant’s discrimination.
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

(Against Heather Gardens Metropolitan District)

68. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

69. Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq. prohibits discrimination in public

services on the basis of disability. 42 U.S.C. § 12132 provides: 

[No] qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be
excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs,
or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such
entity.

70. The ADA defines a “public entity” to include any . . . department, agency, special

purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or local government, 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1). 

HGMD is a “public entity” within the meaning of the ADA.

71. Ms. Kerr has physical impairments that substantially limit one or more of her

major life activities and thus she is an individual with disabilities within the meaning of the

ADA.  42 U.S.C. §12102(2).

72. Ms. Kerr, with or without reasonable modifications to rules, policies or practices,

the removal of communication barriers, or the provision of auxiliary aids and services met the

eligibility requirements for the receipt of services or the participation in programs or activities

provided by Defendants.  Thus, Ms. Kerr is a “qualified individual with disabilities” within the

meaning of the ADA. 42 U.S.C. § 12131(2).

73. Public entities are required to provide auxiliary aids and services necessary to
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afford an individual with a disability an equal opportunity to participate in, and enjoy the

benefits of, a service, program, or activity conducted by a public entity.  28 C.F.R. §

35.160(b)(1).  The obligation to provide “auxiliary aids and services” includes ensuring effective

methods of making aurally delivered materials are available to individuals with hearing

impairments.  28 C.F.R. § 35.104.

74. HGMD excluded Plaintiffs from participation in its services, programs and

activities, and has denied her the rights and benefits accorded to other individuals, solely by

reason of her disabilities in violation of the ADA.  

75. HGMD has violated the ADA by intentionally failing or refusing to provide

reasonable accommodations and modifications to policies, practices and procedures to Ms. Kerr. 

76. Plaintiffs have been injured by Defendant’s discrimination.

77. Plaintiffs have been injured and aggrieved by and will continue to be injured and

aggrieved by Defendant’s discrimination.  

78. Defendant acted intentionally or with deliberate indifference to Plaintiffs’

federally protected rights.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

(Against Heather Gardens Association)

79. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

80. Defendant operates public accommodations, including a community center and a 

recreation center and is therefore a place of public accommodation as defined in 42 U.S.C. §
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12181(7).

81. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of disability, in

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12182.  Defendant’s discriminatory conduct includes but is not limited

to:

a. Discriminatory exclusion from and/or denial of goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, accommodations, and/or opportunities; 

b. provision of goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and/or

accommodations that are not equal to those afforded non-disabled

individuals; and

c. a failure to take such steps as may be necessary to ensure that no

individual with a disability is excluded, denied services, segregated or

otherwise treated differently than other individuals because of the absence

of auxiliary aids and services.

82. As such, Defendant discriminates and, in the absence of the injunction requested

herein, will continue in the future to discriminate against Plaintiffs on the basis of disability in

the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages,

accommodations and/or opportunities of its public accommodations in violation of Title III of

the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12181 et seq., and/or its implementing

regulations.

83. Plaintiffs have been injured by Defendant’s discrimination.

84. Plaintiffs have been injured and aggrieved by and will continue to be injured and
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aggrieved by Defendant’s discrimination. 

85. Defendant acted intentionally or with deliberate indifference to Plaintiffs’

federally protected rights.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of Title IV of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

(Against Heather Gardens Association)

86. Plaintiff Kerr realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in

this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

87. Defendant retaliated against Plaintiff because she opposed an act or practice made

unlawful by the ADA in violation of 42 U.S.C. 12203(a).

88. Plaintiff has been injured and aggrieved by and will continue to be injured and

aggrieved by Defendant’s retaliation.

89. Defendant acted intentionally or with deliberate indifference to Plaintiff’s

federally protected rights.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court issue an order declaring the Defendants to be in violation of the

Fair Housing Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act;

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering the Defendants to provide effective

communication and  reasonable accommodations to Plaintiffs; 

4. That this Court award Plaintiffs compensatory and punitive damages under the
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Fair Housing Act;

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs compensatory and punitive damages under Title

II of the Americans with Disabilities Act;

6. That this Court award Plaintiffs reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

7. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiff demands a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Carrie Ann Lucas           
Carrie Ann Lucas
Kevin W. Williams
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition Legal Program
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO  80203
303.839.1775
clucas@ccdconline.org
kwilliams@ccdconline.org

Dated: February 26, 2009 Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiff Sharon Kerr
13890 E. Marina Drive, Apt 605
Aurora, CO 80014

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
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